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          1  CIVIL RIGHTS AND GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay, good

          3  afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. There is a very

          4  important meeting taking place across the street at

          5  250 Broadway. The Co-Chair of this meeting, Council

          6  Member Larry Seabrook, should be here any moment,

          7  but in order not to keep you waiting, I'm going to

          8  read my opening statement which Council Member

          9  Seabrook can look at, if he so wishes, a little

         10  later on.

         11                 Good afternoon, and welcome to this

         12  joint hearing of the Committees on Governmental

         13  Operations and Civil Rights. I am Simcha Felder,

         14  Chair of the Committee on Governmental Operations,

         15  and I am joined by my colleague, Council Member Inez

         16  Dickens.

         17                 I want to take a moment to apologize

         18  for the last-minute location change of today's

         19  hearing, which is in order to meet an accessibility

         20  concern that could not be met at the hearing's

         21  original location across the street.

         22                 I would like to acknowledge the staff

         23  of the Committees and thank them for all their hard

         24  work in preparing for today's joint hearing.

         25                 First, with the Committee on
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          2  Governmental Operations, to my left is DeNora

          3  Getachew, the Counsel to the Committee. And to her

          4  left is Michael Cassatano, my Legislative Aid.

          5                 The Committee's Policy Analyst,

          6  Israel Rodriguez, could not attend this hearing

          7  because he is participating in another hearing with

          8  the Contracts Committee.

          9                 With the Committee on Civil Rights, I

         10  will introduce them, I'm sure Council Member

         11  Seabrook will introduce them again. Damien Butvick?

         12                 MR. BUTVICK: Butvick.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Sorry. I'll do it

         14  again. Damien Butvick, Policy Analyst to the Civil

         15  Rights Committee.

         16                 First the Committee on Govermmental

         17  Operations will vote on proposed Intro. No. 651-A,

         18  which is a bill that I introduced by request of the

         19  Mayor.

         20                 This bill would amend the

         21  Administrative Code of the City of New York with

         22  respect to campaign finance. Specifically, this bill

         23  would make various substantive and technical

         24  amendments to the Campaign Finance Reform Bill

         25  passed by the Committee in June of this year to
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          2  clarify the law and ensure that:

          3                 (1) the contribution limits

          4  applicable to those doing business with the City

          5  apply for the entire election cycle.

          6                 (2) the new matching level of

          7  six-to-one up to $175 would be retroactively applied

          8  from the start of the current election cycle; and

          9                 (3) that the exemption from doing

         10  business restrictions for affordable housing

         11  developers would not only -- would only apply, I'm

         12  sorry, would only apply to those developers who

         13  participate in as-of-right non-discretionary and

         14  affordable housing programs, or those which do not

         15  involve significant discretion by HPD and other City

         16  agencies in awarding a benefit.

         17                 This bill also includes the following

         18  provisions included specifically at the request of

         19  the Mayor:

         20                 (1) delay of the application of doing

         21  business contribution cap on those who act in a

         22  senior managerial capacity in July 2008, because

         23  they are experiencing difficulty in obtaining this

         24  information from current City contractors and

         25  franchise and concession holders.
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          2                 (2) create a mechanism to waive

          3  compliance with the business dealings with the City

          4  requirements in cases where a vendor refuses to

          5  disclose Vendex information, but the City needs to

          6  contract with the vendor in emergency situations for

          7  security-related reasons, or goods or services

          8  essential to government operations; and

          9                 (3) exempt those whose property is

         10  being taken by the City by eminent domain from the

         11  doing business contribution limits.

         12                 Based on the Fiscal Impact Statement

         13  provided to the Committee by the Finance Division,

         14  the bill would not have any fiscal impact on the

         15  City.

         16                 After the Committee voted on proposed

         17  Intro. No. 651-A, the Committees on Civil Rights and

         18  Government Operations will conduct a joint oversight

         19  hearing on the New York City Voter Assistance

         20  Commission that worked to increase voter

         21  registration across New York City, across New York

         22  City and its diverse communities.

         23                 The Commission is comprised of 16

         24  members and a coordinator and minimal staff who are

         25  responsible for encouraging and facilitating voter
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          2  registration, voter participation by all residents

          3  in the City who are eligible to vote, carry out that

          4  mission. The Commission conducts voter registration

          5  events throughout the City.

          6                 In particular, September 2006, the

          7  Commission conducted its first annual Voter

          8  Awareness Month and conducted voter registration

          9  drives and voter awareness events throughout the

         10  five boroughs.

         11                 This year Voter Awareness Month took

         12  place during October in partnership with the City

         13  University of New York and featured events

         14  throughout the City, many of which took place on

         15  CUNY campuses.

         16                 I had the pleasure of attending and

         17  participating at one of the VAC events at the Marks

         18  Jewish Community House in Bensonhurst, which is

         19  located just outside my district and serves people

         20  of all backgrounds from my district and throughout

         21  South Brooklyn.

         22                 The event was a registration drive

         23  for new American citizens born in the former Soviet

         24  Union and is an example of how VAC has found success

         25  in maximizing its limited budget by forging
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          2  partnerships with existing community organizations.

          3                 Speaker Quinn and I recently made an

          4  effort to build on that model by inviting Council

          5  members to enlist community organizations in their

          6  own districts to work with VAC in preparing

          7  registration drives in advance of the upcoming

          8  January 12th, 2008 registration deadline for the

          9  February 5th, 2008 primary, residential primaries in

         10  New York City.

         11                 The Committees look forward to

         12  learning more about the Commission's work and

         13  hearing testimony from the Commission, good

         14  government and advocacy groups, and members of the

         15  public about what can be done to increase voter

         16  registration and participation throughout the City.

         17                 Before we begin the formal testimony,

         18  I have to make one or two comments. First of all, I

         19  think we're going to have to start the Civil Rights

         20  portion of the hearing that involves the Civil

         21  Rights Chairman who we are delighted has come.

         22                 So, before we begin the formal

         23  testimony, I'd like to emphasize that it is my

         24  policy as Chair of the Governmental Operations

         25  Committee to ensure that the hearings begin on time
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          2  and therefore it is my rule that only those

          3  individuals that sign up to testify within the first

          4  15 minutes of the start of the hearing will be

          5  permitted to testify. So, you have 15 minutes from

          6  20 after, which according to my calculations is

          7  1:35. And if you're not sure whether you want to

          8  testify, you should sign up and then withdraw it.

          9  But if you think you might, please sign up.

         10                 And I just, for those of you who may

         11  have read something about my rules, I want to go on

         12  the record as saying that I did research again for

         13  the second time to find out that according to the

         14  rules of the Council, whether it's nice or not,

         15  according to the rules of the Council, we're not

         16  obligated to take any testimony whatsoever. That

         17  doesn't mean that I'm God's gift to mankind by

         18  allowing to take testimony, I think it's important

         19  to take testimony, but I find nothing wrong, and I

         20  will continue to impose this rule and I think it

         21  would be a wonderful thing if this rule may spread

         22  throughout this entire City Council so that meetings

         23  maybe would be in a much more structured fashion and

         24  start on time. So, I don't have any problem with it.

         25                 And two, I feel very strongly that if
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          2  somebody comes on time to a hearing, they should not

          3  have to sit through listening to somebody else's

          4  testimony who comes an hour and a half later, even

          5  if he was the Commissioner of Parks, an hour and a

          6  half later to hear somebody say something that might

          7  have been said four other times.

          8                 So, with all due respect, I think

          9  that the rule is a good one, and for the next two

         10  years, at least, in this Committee we will continue

         11  to impose this rule.

         12                 After that, I won't be in this job, I

         13  will be in another job, God willing. So, that's one.

         14                 Additionally, witnesses, I asking you

         15  to refrain from repeated points that are made by

         16  previous witnesses. If somebody adequately made the

         17  point, it's fair to say that you either agree or

         18  disagree, and if you have something to add, that

         19  will be great.

         20                 Before we continue, we just want to

         21  recognize Council Member Erik Dilan, who joined us,

         22  and Council Member Vallone who joined, Peter

         23  Vallone, Jr., who joined us.

         24                 All right, so we're going to take the

         25  vote now on 651-A.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Felder.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I vote no.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm going to

          8  pass. I need to read this.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dickens.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I vote aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         14  Vallone.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I need to

         16  read this.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I want to thank

         19  all of the members for being here and I'm turning

         20  the mic. over to the esteemed Chair of the Civil

         21  Rights Committee, Council Member Larry Seabrook.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Good afternoon,

         23  Mr. Chairman. And I certainly want to thank you and

         24  I certainly want to apologize for being late, but

         25  that's the scheduling that we have. It's been a
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          2  little crazy.

          3                 But anyway, my name is Council Member

          4  Larry Seabrook. I Chair the New York City Council

          5  Committee on Civil Rights.

          6                 I'd like to begin by acknowledging my

          7  Co-Chair at today's hearing, Council Member Simcha

          8  Felder, and by thanking him for bringing attention

          9  to this important matter.

         10                 Our country has a long and shameful

         11  record of systematically disenfranchising people of

         12  color, from poll taxes, to literacy tests,

         13  institutionalized discrimination at the voting booth

         14  has left an unfortunate legacy that continues to

         15  strive to this day.

         16                 In this last presidential election,

         17  just 44 percent of registered African-Americans

         18  voted, along with 31 percent of Latino Americans and

         19  26 percent of Asian Americans.

         20                 Registration rates among these

         21  communities are equally abysmal, with 51 percent of

         22  eligible African-Americans registered, along with 38

         23  percent of Latin Americans and 31 percent of Asian

         24  Americans.

         25                 The federal, State and local
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          2  governments have made several attempts to increase

          3  voter registration in these communities. They are

          4  woefully inadequate.

          5                 Failure to reach out to and mobilize

          6  communities of color further perpetuates their

          7  under-representation and the public's fear. If the

          8  government is sincere in its desire to empower all

          9  communities, then it must take bolder steps to

         10  involve its constituents in the electoral process.

         11                 As Chair of the Committee on Civil

         12  Rights, I'm looking forward to hearing today's

         13  testimony and to taking a closer look at the

         14  operation of the Voter Assistance Commission.

         15                 I'd like to thank everyone for coming

         16  out today and for joining this exceedingly important

         17  dialogue.

         18                 I would now like to give the floor

         19  back to my distinguished colleague, Chair of the

         20  Committee on Governmental Operation, Council Member

         21  Simcha Felder.

         22                 And our first panel of witnesses will

         23  be Commissioner Jane Kalmus, Jeffrey Kraus, Onida

         24  Coward Mayers.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: The Committee on
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          2  Governmental Operations. Introduction 651-A. Council

          3  Member Vallone.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I vote aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

          6  the affirmative, one in the negative and no

          7  abstentions, the item is adopted.

          8                 Council members, please sign the

          9  Committee report.

         10                 DR. KRAUS: Good afternoon,

         11  Chairpersons Felder and Seabrook, and members of the

         12  Government Operations and Civil Rights Committees of

         13  the New York City Council.

         14                 I am Jeffrey Kraus, Chairperson of

         15  the New York City Voter Assistance Commission.

         16                 I am joined this afternoon by Vice

         17  Chair Jane Kalmus, who has been a member of the

         18  Commission since its inception, and Onida Coward

         19  Mayers, who is our Executive Director.

         20                 We are here today to inform you about

         21  the Commission's activities and to answer your

         22  questions. According to the New York City Charter

         23  the role of the Voter Assistance Commission is to

         24  encourage and facilitate voter registration and

         25  voting by all eligible citizens residing in New York
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          2  City. The Voter Assistance Commission is strictly

          3  non-partisan and does not promote any candidate for

          4  public office, political party or political agenda.

          5                 The Voter Assistance Commission's

          6  mission is to increase participation in the

          7  democratic process. Towards that end the Commission

          8  works with Mayoral agencies, other governmental

          9  entities, private groups and individuals and

         10  community-based organizations to promote voter

         11  registration and voter participation.

         12                 Our key program in this area has been

         13  Voter Awareness Month where the agency works with an

         14  array of groups around the City and mounting events

         15  to heighten voter awareness.

         16                 The 2006 series of events launched on

         17  September 14th, 2006 with the Mayoral press

         18  conference held at the Schomburg Center for Research

         19  into Black Culture.

         20                 Chairman Felder participated in that

         21  event which featured Myrlie Evers-Williams, the wife

         22  of the slain civil rights leader, Medgar Evers, and

         23  Dr. Carolyn Goodman and David Goodman, the mother

         24  and brother of murdered civil rights activist Andrew

         25  Goodman.
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          2                 That year we worked with more than 20

          3  civic organizations to hold more than 60 events,

          4  including voter registration drives, public forums

          5  and other events across the City, including symposia

          6  on the voting rights of convicted felons who have

          7  completed their sentences.

          8                 There was also a series of public

          9  service announcements which aired on WNBC, Fox 5,

         10  News 12, CUNY TV and New York 1. The New York Times

         11  also joined with VAC in publishing the Voter

         12  Awareness Month Calendar of Events in the newspaper.

         13                 This year's recently concluded Voter

         14  Awareness Month featured 52 events conducted at

         15  locations throughout the city, including five

         16  symposia on Judicial Selection, which featured

         17  presentations by sitting judges, the Unified Court

         18  System's Judicial Campaign Ethics Center, the

         19  Campaign Finance Board and which was moderated by a

         20  New York Daily News reporter or columnist, as the

         21  Daily News is our media partner for the 2007 and

         22  2008 Voter Awareness efforts.

         23                 In 2005, a number of you participated

         24  in the Video Voter Guide project, which gave all

         25  candidates for municipal office the opportunity to

                                                            18

          1  CIVIL RIGHTS AND GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS COMMITTEES

          2  make presentations that were then presented on CUNY

          3  TV in the weeks prior to the primary and general

          4  election. The viewer and candidate response to this

          5  effort was favorable and we are looking forward to

          6  mounting a similar program in 2009.

          7                 For next year, we are planning a

          8  series of voter awareness efforts to correspond to

          9  the Presidential Primary, September primary, and the

         10  General Election. We expect interest to be

         11  particularly high given the very competitive

         12  Presidential election. We will be working with the

         13  Daily News, specifically their Newspaper and

         14  Education Program, CUNY, and many organizations to

         15  make 2008 a year when New Yorkers will participate

         16  in the electoral process. We welcome your interest

         17  and support of our activities.

         18                 We also monitor voting through our

         19  website and phone calls to our office we receive

         20  inquiries and comments from voters about the

         21  experiences they have voting. We refer complaints to

         22  the Board of Elections to follow up on these

         23  contacts.

         24                 We are also required by the City

         25  Charter to hold an annual public hearing where
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          2  voters offer testimony to the Commission on their

          3  experience on Election Day. The last hearing, by the

          4  way, was this last Thursday.

          5                 Since 2003, the Board of Elections

          6  has offered a formal response to the issues raised

          7  at our hearing, and we expect that will occur again

          8  this spring.

          9                 The Commission published a Guide to

         10  Local Elected Officials, which is available in hard

         11  copy and on our website. We have also worked with

         12  community groups to secure voter registration forms

         13  and help those groups disseminate information to

         14  their members.

         15                 We are proud that prior to the

         16  enactment of the Local Law, the Commission worked

         17  with the Board of Elections and the Department of

         18  Education to ensure that each graduating senior

         19  received a voter registration form along with their

         20  diploma.

         21                 We also worked with the Department of

         22  Education to develop a lesson plan on voting that

         23  was taught in our City's high schools. We look

         24  forward to deepening our relationship with the

         25  Department of Education as one of the Commission's
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          2  goals has been to increase participation among

          3  groups that historically have been less likely to

          4  vote. Young people are one of the groups we have

          5  targeted. Other groups that we are working with

          6  include new Americans, the disabled and the

          7  homeless.

          8                 We do all this with a staff of three.

          9  I commend them, and would suggest to you that the

         10  City is getting a tremendous return on its

         11  investment in our agency. I also want to thank my

         12  colleagues on the Commission, many of whom appear at

         13  these Voter Awareness events and other activities on

         14  behalf of the Commission.

         15                 I thank you for this chance to offer

         16  you a brief update on the Commission's work, and I

         17  look forward to your questions.

         18                 MS. KALMUS: Good morning,

         19  Chairpersons Felder and Seabrook and members of the

         20  Government Operations and Civil Rights Committees of

         21  the New York City Council.

         22                 I am Jane Kalmus. I am Vice Chair of

         23  the New York City Voter Assistance Commission, and I

         24  have a brief statement, which I would like to share

         25  with you, and it begins this way:
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          2                 The title of this is The City Council

          3  and the Voter Assistance Commission Community

          4  Connection.

          5                 The Voter Assistance Commission,

          6  which is known as VAC, is developing the strategy to

          7  promote to increase voter registration and

          8  participation in the 2008 Election.

          9                 The program will partner VAC with

         10  each Council Member utilizing their district offices

         11  as the distribution center for information on how to

         12  register and vote.

         13                 All VAC printed materials on this

         14  topic will be made available to each district office

         15  staff member.

         16                 A message from Council Speaker

         17  Christine Quinn on announcing this non-partisan

         18  Citywide Initiative will enable VAC to arrange for a

         19  full page in the Daily News.

         20                 Web sites of each Council member will

         21  all carry the same message on how to register and

         22  where to vote.

         23                 VAC will contact senior centers and

         24  neighborhood houses across throughout the City to

         25  arrange for citizens conversations with Council
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          2  members and other local elected officials.

          3                 If the City Council and VAC are in

          4  agreement on this development plan, the program can

          5  be implemented at no cost early in 2008.

          6                 I look forward to any questions you

          7  might have.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Good afternoon to

         10  Chairman Felder and Chairman Seabrook. I thank you

         11  very much for the opportunity to testify on the New

         12  York City Voter Assistance Commission efforts to

         13  increase voter participation across New York City.

         14                 My name is Onida Coward Mayers. I am

         15  the Executive Director of the New York City Voter

         16  Assistance Commission and VAC's coordinator.

         17                 As is mandated by Charter, VAC hears

         18  public comments and testimony at its bimonthly

         19  meetings and annual public hearings. Over the past

         20  several years we have heard testimony from members

         21  of the community who have shared their voting

         22  experiences, including those among the populations

         23  of new citizens, immigrants, women, youth, veterans,

         24  women, seniors, people with disabilities and people

         25  with criminal convictions.
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          2                 They describe their voting day

          3  experiences, along with barriers their communities

          4  may face. VAC's voter awareness activities seek to

          5  address these concerns through workshops and

          6  symposiums, as well as celebrate our individual

          7  right in this country to participate in the American

          8  democracy.

          9                 During our Voter Awareness Month

         10  activities, VAC aims to outreach to all New Yorkers

         11  with a special emphasis on groups that are

         12  traditionally under-represented to increase overall

         13  electoral participation.

         14                 In 2006 and 2007 VAC presented over

         15  119 Citywide, boroughwide and neighborhood-based

         16  voter events. We had events, over 29 events in the

         17  youth category, five for women, seven for the senior

         18  population, 38 with new citizens and immigrant

         19  population, eight in the veterans community, two in

         20  disability, two for criminal convictions, four

         21  general community-wide, one for victims with

         22  domestic violence, two in the homeless area, 16

         23  agency-based voter registration drives, and five

         24  judicial symposiums.

         25                 In 2008 VAC will step up its efforts
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          2  to outreach to all New Yorkers, thereby increasing

          3  the number of organizations and groups participating

          4  in our voter education and awareness campaign. Also,

          5  increasing the number of registered voters in New

          6  York City, strengthening the quality of

          7  participation of existing partners, and increasing

          8  civic awareness opportunities on voting issues.

          9                 VAC will launch a year-long voter

         10  awareness campaign in 2008 beginning with

         11  distribution of voter registration materials at all

         12  59 community boards encouraging voter registration

         13  in neighborhoods around the City.

         14                 During January, VAC will also work

         15  with the Department of Homeland Services to register

         16  new citizens at their naturalization and swearing in

         17  ceremonies in Manhattan.

         18                 VAC also looks forward to working

         19  with the City Council representatives to provide

         20  materials and training on how to conduct a voter

         21  registration drive in your community.

         22                 We currently have six voter drives

         23  scheduled by Councilman Comrie to be held at senior

         24  centers, churches and hospitals in his district

         25  during the month of January.

                                                            25

          1  CIVIL RIGHTS AND GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS COMMITTEES

          2                 In April VAC will partner with others

          3  to present a series of discussions on informing the

          4  general public on the electoral college.

          5                 In October 2008, it will be the

          6  annual celebration of Voter Awareness Month, which

          7  will feature Citywide events and activities, as well

          8  as voting forums and panels.

          9                 In October VAC will present an

         10  evening public program at the New York Historical

         11  Society, featuring a keynote speaker to discuss the

         12  changing voting demographics in New York City

         13  history. A voting exhibit will also be on display

         14  during the month of October.

         15                 VAC will continue to promote our

         16  Voter Awareness Initiatives and Activities. This

         17  year and last year we had public service

         18  announcements that were translated into Spanish,

         19  Chinese and Korean.

         20                 Also, 2008 Voter Awareness calendars

         21  will be available on our website, and monthly

         22  calendars and their dates will be printed in the New

         23  York Daily News. VAC partners and sponsors for 2008

         24  will continue with the New York Daily News, the City

         25  University of New York and Con Edison.
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          2                 Also, attached you will find a whole

          3  description of all of the events, the number of

          4  calls that come into VAC, the 3-1-1 calls. You'll

          5  also find all of the media, the hits on our website,

          6  and participation of our Commissioners and

          7  representatives.

          8                 I thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         10  much. I just want to introduce some of the members

         11  who came in. We have Councilwoman Darlene Mealy from

         12  Brooklyn, who is a member of this Committee.

         13  Councilman Domenic Recchia from Brooklyn. And

         14  Committee member Council Member Mike Nelson from

         15  Brooklyn, as well.

         16                 We just have to take a vote for a

         17  minute.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Introduction 651-A.

         19                 Council Member Recchia.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         22  five in the affirmative, zero in the negative --

         23  excuse me. Five in the affirmative, one in the

         24  negative, zero abstentions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Chairman
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          2  Felder. No, you go first.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: How much money do

          4  you spend on -- let's take in '06, only because '07

          5  is -- unless you know, if you know what's your

          6  budget for advertising in '07?

          7                 DR. KRAUS: We do not spend any money

          8  on advertising.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So the ads that

         10  you set in the Daily News, who pays for that?

         11                 DR. KRAUS: The Daily News.

         12                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: The Daily News.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So VAC doesn't

         14  spend any money on the adverting?

         15                 DR. KRAUS: That's correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: How much do you

         17  spend on those booklets that tell you all about the

         18  candidates? Or how to vote, whatever, you know you

         19  mentioned earlier?

         20                 DR. KRAUS: Oh, the printed Voter

         21  Guide?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes.

         23                 DR. KRAUS: Not the Voter Guide, the

         24  Guide to elected officials.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes.
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          2                 DR. KRAUS: It's through the City,

          3  it's printed through the City.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I don't mind that

          5  the City printed it --

          6                 DR. KRAUS: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I don't need it

          8  today, I'd like to know how much money. Somebody is

          9  spending the money.

         10                 DR. KRAUS: Yes, that we can find out.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: And I'd like to

         12  know who is spending the money on that.

         13                 DR. KRAUS: All right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, let me just

         15  be clear. So, there is no budget -- the City does

         16  not pay for any advertising.

         17                 DR. KRAUS: That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Relating to the

         19  Voter Assistance Commission. I'm not talking about

         20  where you vote or other things, but related to you.

         21                 Now, this thing, the City prints this

         22  as well?

         23                 DR. KRAUS: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: You didn't print.

         25  Somebody else did this for you?
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          2                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Yes. CUNY designed

          3  it for us, and we arranged for the City to have it

          4  printed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Again, I'd like

          6  to know, and I think the Chair would also like to

          7  know what it cost to do these things.

          8                 DR. KRAUS: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: A little off

         10  topic, Dr. Kraus, because I have tremendous amount

         11  of respect for you and for the knowledge you have,

         12  it's my understand that you're not permitted to try

         13  to get somebody to register to vote by giving them

         14  any sort of incentive whatsoever.

         15                 DR. KRAUS: That's correct. You're not

         16  supposed to offer an inducement. That's right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Now, even if

         18  you're not trying to encourage them to register in

         19  any party or anything like that, so that in theory

         20  if let's say somehow you were able to get somebody

         21  to sponsor a free trip for two somewhere and that

         22  anybody who registers to vote within a certain

         23  amount of time automatically enters into a lottery

         24  by doing so?

         25                 DR. KRAUS: I think certainly that
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          2  might run afoul of the Election Law.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: And what is the

          4  problem?

          5                 DR. KRAUS: Well, you know, you're

          6  offering people an inducement. And beyond that, I

          7  would hope that there would be other ways to

          8  encourage people to engage in the political process

          9  than offering them trips or prizes. I think that

         10  tends to trivialize the process. It tends to

         11  trivialize the work that all of you do.

         12                 One of the things we try to do

         13  through the various educational activities, the

         14  symposia, is to let people know what some of the

         15  issues are. You have to really create a climate of

         16  participation. It's not just dragging people out to

         17  vote. Heaven knows political candidates have been

         18  trying to do that for years. It's creating a large,

         19  you might say, environment of participation, and the

         20  idea there is to make people aware of the issues,

         21  get them interested in the issues and in the

         22  process, and then, frankly, you don't have to do

         23  contests.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Let me just say,

         25  do you know the statistics about the number of
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          2  people statistically in the City, and obviously

          3  taking into consideration the population, whether

          4  the number of people has increased or decreased

          5  proportionally that have registered to vote in the

          6  last five years?

          7                 DR. KRAUS: Well, there has been an

          8  increase in the voter registration rules during that

          9  time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: But proportionate

         11  to the increase in population. In other words --

         12                 DR. KRAUS: We have a better handle on

         13  the increase in the voter registration rules simply

         14  because they're updated more frequently. The census

         15  data goes back to 2001, so, you know, and of course

         16  there have been estimates done by the Census Bureau,

         17  but certainly in terms of the precise number, that

         18  will be available after the next census.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Does that mean

         20  that you're saying that as far as you can see, more

         21  people are registering to vote now than they had

         22  say, again by estimate, five years ago?

         23                 DR. KRAUS: Well, there are efforts to

         24  get people to vote. That's always been the case. I

         25  think what we're seeing now is a resurgence in that.
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          2  For awhile you did see a decline, and these things

          3  tend to go through peaks and valleys. There tends to

          4  be an increase in voter registration around

          5  presidential election years for a couple of reasons.

          6  One, there is greater interest, and two, there is

          7  usually more financing available for those kinds of

          8  activities, historically the political parties have

          9  been far more willing to fund voter registration

         10  efforts in presidential election years than in the

         11  other three years.

         12                 So, certainly you see in 2004 an

         13  uptick in registration. In 2000 an uptick. 1996. I

         14  expect you'll see one in 2008.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes, but my

         16  question is the general trend. Because it's my

         17  feeling, certainly in some of the neighborhoods, not

         18  only those that I represent but some of those that

         19  are very, very nearby, that unfortunately the

         20  numbers that Council Member Seabrook mentioned are

         21  staggering about the problems in certain

         22  communities, but even in other communities

         23  throughout the City I think that some of the

         24  immigrant communities, just like those that came

         25  earlier on understand and appreciated what it means
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          2  to be able to live in this country and have the

          3  opportunity to vote, I have the opportunity to vote,

          4  it's unbelievable. And to this day my mother, who is

          5  elderly, never misses a vote. Never misses a vote.

          6  Doesn't matter whether she's well, or the weather,

          7  she always goes out.

          8                 But the next generation, you know, I

          9  see unfortunately, maybe it's because I'm an elected

         10  official that my kids have no interest. They know

         11  who I am. But I just see a terrible problem among

         12  younger generations specifically in general about

         13  voting.

         14                 You know, it's not a question, it

         15  just seems to me anecdotal evidence I'd say --

         16                 DR. KRAUS: Well, there are two issues

         17  here. There is registration and voting. Certainly

         18  there has been an increase in registration. Voter

         19  turnout, of course, is a different story, and there

         20  has been a significant decline.

         21                 Okay, registration has increased.

         22  Council Member Seabrook was referring earlier to

         23  voter turnout during his opening remarks, and that's

         24  where the problem has existed actually really for

         25  the last 30 years or so.
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          2                 You mentioned young people. Young

          3  people historically have been less likely to vote.

          4  It goes back to the ratification of the 26th

          5  Amendment. It seems as one grows older and one picks

          6  up the responsibilities of a house and a mortgage

          7  and having to pay taxes and things like that, that

          8  these people who at 18, 19 and 20 didn't see the

          9  reason to vote, when they get 35, 40 and 45 suddenly

         10  see the need. And I would suspect that that will be

         11  the case with this younger generation as well.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I don't want to

         13  belabor it. I just want to say --

         14                 DR. KRAUS: It's one of the reasons

         15  we've targeted the youth.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: All I'm saying to

         17  you is that it's my impression, and maybe, as you

         18  said, when you get older, maybe sometimes things

         19  seem bleaker about the younger kids, but it seems to

         20  me that things have gotten worse than they used to

         21  be in terms of young people, that even if it was

         22  never good about young people registered to vote.

         23                 Before we continue, with your

         24  permission I want to just digress again for a moment

         25  to allow Council Member Addabbo, who joined us, to
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          2  vote on the earlier items.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Introduction 651-A.

          4                 Council Member Addabbo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I vote aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: The final vote on

          7  Governmental Operations is now six in the

          8  affirmative, one in the negative and zero

          9  abstentions. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Dr. Kraus, just

         11  a couple of questions.

         12                 DR. KRAUS: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: In line with

         14  what the Councilman raised. What is the total budget

         15  of VAC? What is the budget?

         16                 DR. KRAUS: I think you know that

         17  number, right?

         18                 175.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: What?

         20                 DR. KRAUS: 175,000.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: 175,000. And

         22  none of this is for advertising?

         23                 DR. KRAUS: That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And in reaching

         25  those voters, it's the Daily News that provides this
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          2  public service advertisement?

          3                 DR. KRAUS: Sure. Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Has there been

          5  any other media that has provided that service or

          6  any request that you all have?

          7                 DR. KRAUS: In 2006 the New York Times

          8  provided space in the paper.

          9                 As I mentioned in my opening

         10  statement, we've had public service announcements

         11  that were produced for us at no cost to the agency

         12  aired on a number of local media outlets - New York

         13  1, Fox 5, WNBC.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Fifty-one

         15  percent that's unregistered in the African-American

         16  community, and almost 70 percent in the Latino

         17  community, and that 80 percent in the Asian

         18  community, very little with the New York Times in

         19  relationship with the Daily News as it relates to

         20  the demographics.

         21                 DR. KRAUS: Well, with the Daily News

         22  our material is appearing in their Spanish language

         23  newspaper.

         24                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Yes.

         25                 DR. KRAUS: Certainly we are always --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: What about the

          3  Chinese? You've got Creole, the Haitians, and

          4  others, so how do you reach them?

          5                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Right. I will say

          6  that we started this in 2006, and especially when we

          7  went to naturalization and swearing in ceremonies,

          8  we also partner with the Governor Citizenship Unit,

          9  and also with CUNY Citizenship Unit, so they brought

         10  out translators in most of those languages that you

         11  have just mentioned, also Chinese, Korean, Haitian,

         12  Creole, and Spanish. And wherever we went from major

         13  symposiums, we would have them also there with us.

         14  So, we did various community forums where we had

         15  them there as well.

         16                 We've also outreached to ethnic media

         17  so this way when we had our public service

         18  announcements and they were translated both years

         19  into those languages, we would then deliver them to

         20  all of the ethnic media in those languages.

         21                 Also, we have partnered with Loreo,

         22  who is here today also, and they have also come to

         23  various events to provide Russian assistance, as

         24  well as -- well, we talked about the Haitian,

         25  Creole, as well.
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          2                 I think we have definitely, every

          3  time we go into the community we try to make sure we

          4  go with the language assistance that we need.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, again, I

          6  think that you all do a very good job, but I think

          7  $175,000 is not even, again, it's an embarrassment

          8  on not just this mayoralty but all and all of us in

          9  government, that if we're talking about reaching

         10  people, this should be -- this is one of the most

         11  civic responsible duties that any individual might

         12  have, and for the lack of participation just to be a

         13  registered voter, I mean this should be one of the

         14  most funded agencies there is and it is not. And I'm

         15  of the school that you pay for what you get, so if

         16  you don't pay for it, you won't get people

         17  registered. And I think that given the opportunity

         18  of giving the real resources to go out and do what

         19  has to be done, that can happen. But I find it very

         20  strange -- you wanted to say something?

         21                 MS. KALMUS: I just wanted to commend

         22  you, Council member, for understanding the

         23  underlying pitfalls that have surrounded the Voter

         24  Assistance Commission since I was first appointed in

         25  1989 when Ed Koch was still Mayor, he then turned
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          2  the Administration over to David Dinkins, he then

          3  turned it over to Mayor Giuliani. During that time

          4  we existed with one staff member, BeBe Yusef, who is

          5  with us today, and no Chairman for four years, when

          6  Dennis Walcott left as Chair of the Commission and

          7  until such time as Dr. Kraus joined us at the

          8  suggestion and appointment by Mayor Bloomberg.

          9                 So, we understand what it is to make

         10  every dollar that we have from the budget do the

         11  work of ten or 12. And the plans that we have

         12  presented to you today mean that we will continue

         13  because we understand that the financial situation

         14  in the City doesn't permit additional funds, but I

         15  am hoping in conclusion that when the Help America

         16  Vote Act of 2001 finally comes to some conclusion,

         17  and I understand that the Justice Department is

         18  handing down its opinion on December 20th, that some

         19  of that HAVA, Help America Vote Act, millions,

         20  hundreds of millions of dollars that come to the New

         21  York State Board of Elections and the City Board of

         22  Elections that somehow someone will recognize the

         23  fact that some of those millions and even just a

         24  part of it, would well help support the very points

         25  that you have made today through the Voter
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          2  Assistance Commission.

          3                 MR. KRAUS: As Commissioner Kalmus

          4  pointed out we did function for a number of years

          5  with one staff member. The present Administration

          6  has been more supportive, providing for the funding

          7  for the full-time Executive Director, as well as

          8  another full-time staff person.

          9                 And the other thing I'd like to

         10  mention is, while we may have a very limited budget,

         11  we certainly tried to work with other people's money

         12  in the sense that we have developed a very good

         13  working relationship with CUNY, so they've been very

         14  helpful in terms of producing materials for us.

         15                 We have worked with other City

         16  agencies, in terms of producing the materials that

         17  were asked about before. You'll find out how much

         18  those items cost.

         19                 So, we have tried to do more with

         20  less, and I can assure you we will continue to do so

         21  and make our best effort in terms of encouraging as

         22  many New Yorkers as possible to register, and not

         23  only register to vote but participate in the

         24  political process and vote.

         25                 So, you have our word that we will
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          2  use those resources we have in the most effective

          3  manner.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, you all

          5  have done a fantastic job and just as a great

          6  philosopher would say, named Billy Holiday God bless

          7  Chalis (phonetic) got his own. And, so, I think, you

          8  know, it's good to have those who are sharing, but

          9  some times they might decide that they can't share,

         10  and then we had a surplus in the budget, you know,

         11  everybody, the coffers were filled, and we should

         12  have put monies into this. I think it's the most

         13  important --

         14                 DR. KRAUS: In fairness, that's how we

         15  went from a staff of one to a staff of three.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, that I

         17  think is going to be incumbent upon all of the

         18  Council members to make a decision that we are going

         19  to stand up and demand that there be more resources

         20  that's put in.

         21                 Because the agency is almost

         22  operating as an elected official, on the basis I say

         23  that because elected officials, a lot of -- not

         24  these, but don't like to do voter registration,

         25  because when you change the equation, you change the
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          2  elected official. And, so, with the numbers in which

          3  you have. So, people have a tendency not to want to

          4  register people and just have the same group of

          5  people that will continue to vote do that, and

          6  that's not the American way because people died to

          7  have that right.

          8                 So, I think that one of the things is

          9  that if given the opportunity, I'm certain that you

         10  all would be advertising in a lot of the local

         11  papers, because that's where the people are on the

         12  local level who are unregistered, and the importance

         13  of it so that they can have that, and these local

         14  papers struggle so they can't do but so much free,

         15  and so they need that advertisement. And, again, the

         16  work that you all do is phenomenal, with the

         17  resources in which you have. But I am certain that

         18  we, as elected officials, that we need to really

         19  push to put more monies into this Voter Assistance

         20  Commission so that we can do that.

         21                 Now, one other point that I would

         22  like to see implemented by you all, is that there

         23  needs to be at every high school graduation, just as

         24  you give out a diploma, you are giving out a voter

         25  registration. That as they walk across they got a
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          2  voter registration card, that these people are

          3  registered.

          4                 DR. KRAUS: Councilman Seabrook, if I

          5  could just interject for a moment. I mentioned in my

          6  opening statement that we had arranged for that a

          7  number of years ago with the Department of Education

          8  and the Board of Elections, and actually that is now

          9  a local law of the City, so that hopefully --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: But do they

         11  follow the local law?

         12                 See, a lot of times it's a lot of

         13  stuff that's local law but they don't follow it.

         14  I've gone to these graduations, I've never seen a

         15  voter registration given to any of these schools. I

         16  go to a lot of graduations.

         17                 DR. KRAUS: Well, I can assure you,

         18  Councilman, we'll follow-up.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Because I go

         20  there, I watch these kids, they don't get one voter

         21  registration card. That's as the law but they still

         22  don't do it. And, you know, I get up to speak, I'm

         23  going to say it at these graduations, where is that

         24  voter registration form?

         25                 DR. KRAUS: Okay.
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          2                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: And further to

          3  that, when we're dealing with students who are

          4  coming of age --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right.

          6                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: We want them to be

          7  prepared when they receive the voter registration

          8  form, because a lot of times if they do receive it,

          9  they're getting it the same day as they're receiving

         10  a diploma, which one is more important at that

         11  moment?

         12                 So, if they receive curriculum,

         13  mandated curriculum, then this way they will be

         14  prepared to know what to do and the importance of

         15  submitting it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Yes, I would

         17  hope that we can do that, because, see, if you had

         18  the money to reach them, then you could -- see,

         19  you've got to have somebody their age that can go

         20  and talk to them and communicate with them about the

         21  importance of voting. They're 18 years of age, 17

         22  going on 18, that potential is there. When I was 17,

         23  18, I couldn't vote because the law said I had to be

         24  21. But these are people who actually have that

         25  opportunity, but it just hasn't phased them and
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          2  they've got to have someone their age. But you don't

          3  have the money to do that, you say, and that's why

          4  we've got to get you the money, so you can hire some

          5  18 years to tell other 18 year olds the importance

          6  of voting.

          7                 You know, you got me going out there

          8  telling them to vote, they're like what's this old

          9  man talking about?

         10                 DR. KRAUS: Councilman, we also do

         11  have interns who, of course, are free.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: See, I

         13  understand, but you can't keep getting these free

         14  things. I keep telling you, man, at some point --

         15                 DR. KRAUS: I can assure you,

         16  Councilman, we keep working at it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I understand

         18  it, and I appreciate what you all do with so little

         19  so much, and that's why we've got to make sure you

         20  all get some more money.

         21                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: We've got to do

         23  that.

         24                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Election Day in

         25  November, we participated with the Daily News on an
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          2  all-day workshop for teachers K through 12 on

          3  strategies of how they could introduce voter

          4  education in their classrooms. And we also worked

          5  with the Vote 18 project, which is a program

          6  consultant toward the DOE who worked with us and

          7  came and did this workshop for them, as well as he

          8  performs it for our Voter Awareness Month, so he

          9  goes to different schools for us, but, yes, he is

         10  one person. But we have been trying to get some of

         11  that out, some of the curriculum out.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, again, it

         13  should be applauded, hopefully we're going to see if

         14  I can talk to all of the members of the Council.

         15  Maybe we could spare 5,000, 10,000 each to put in

         16  and make a contribution to help this budget out. You

         17  know, our contribution out of our member -- you

         18  know, 5,000, 10,000, I'm certain that they will be

         19  able to give that up. You wouldn't mind?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I'll do whatever

         21  you --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And we could

         23  get them some more money to do some of the things,

         24  for this great work.

         25                 And we've been joined by Dr. Eugene,
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          2  the Councilman from Brooklyn.

          3                 And I talked to them, Eugene, about

          4  them not having this information in Creole and

          5  everything else, because they don't have the money.

          6  And so we're going to try and make sure that that

          7  happens and do what has to be done.

          8                 Now, Councilwoman Darlene Mealy had

          9  some questions, and I'll come back.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good afternoon.

         11  I know you're doing such a great job, but I have a

         12  few questions. And knowing that every voter should

         13  vote, it's their right to vote, people who have died

         14  for others to vote, and I will ask you, where do you

         15  get the money from to go into the schools? Or I will

         16  put my own money in for this, but how often do you

         17  reach out to schools in regard to voter

         18  registration?

         19                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Well, we work

         20  through a couple of ways. The Daily News, who is our

         21  2007 and 2008 partner, they have a newspaper and

         22  education program, so we work with them as they

         23  provide information to the schools. They also

         24  provide information about Voter Awareness Month and

         25  our Voter Awareness Initiatives. That's one way.
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          2                 Also, we work with CUNY and they have

          3  voting curriculum for certain grades for seven,

          4  eight, 11 and 12, so we partner with them to have

          5  our information also included there.

          6                 Also, this year and last some of our

          7  own commissioners, when teachers have asked or

          8  schools have asked us to partner with them or come

          9  in to speak, some of our own commissioners have gone

         10  in and spoken as well. And we work with the

         11  Department of Education on going into the schools.

         12  So, we kind of split it up among staff and

         13  Commissioners.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay, because I

         15  have put in legislation also that we will send a

         16  voter registration form to every student, as soon as

         17  they turn 18. Our chairs already know that I have a

         18  couple of voter registration intimidation bills just

         19  as well. But one thing I want to know, you said

         20  that, Councilman Leroy Comrie, you have about 70 --

         21  in partnership with him, because I have in some of

         22  my schools, the public schools are doing voter

         23  registration and running for office, and that's one

         24  thing I feel we are all obligated, to have civics in

         25  public school to college.
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          2                 So, I know I have put funds into

          3  that, into my public school, so I would love to

          4  partnership with you.

          5                 And another thing. I know we have to

          6  be non-partisan. We are having a sponsor in which

          7  they pay and then just for people to vote, not that

          8  you have to be republican, democrat, working family,

          9  and it's the principle of it, we need people voting.

         10  Voting let's people know that their district can get

         11  the funds and the resources that they need.

         12                 I make sure my community know that if

         13  you do not vote we will not get the service that we

         14  need if they don't see people voting in this

         15  district.

         16                 So, that's one thing that's really

         17  passionate with me, and I will work with you

         18  hand-in-hand in regards to that. But now I want to

         19  know, how did you advertise this book? Because I had

         20  three legislations on voter rights going on in

         21  October, since September all the way to November,

         22  and at the end I received this book I believe at a

         23  hearing or somewhere. And I said, wow, they had a

         24  voter registration right at the corner of one of my

         25  train stations in which I was there like the day
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          2  before or the day afterward.

          3                 So, I'm saying how does a CBO get

          4  involved that they can have a voter registration

          5  drive and be involved in this book? Because this

          6  book is important, and just for the record, I have a

          7  legislation in that it would be Voter Awareness Week

          8  also. So, I would love partnership with you, and I

          9  will make it like a big thing, because if we don't

         10  get our young people voting, we're losing a lot in

         11  our districts. And that's going to be one of my pet

         12  peeves, you can say. I will diligently work on voter

         13  registration and get the people who come out to

         14  vote. So, I just applaud you for all that you're

         15  doing, and I definitely want to meet with you with

         16  regards to having about seven of the forms in my

         17  district. So, we have to spread it around. I

         18  understand Queens, but Brooklyn needs it just as

         19  well.

         20                 So, I thank you, and you're doing a

         21  great job.

         22                 Thank you, Chairman.

         23                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: May I?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes.

         25                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 I just wanted to touch on some of the

          4  points that you had. Our office, our Commission has

          5  created a New York City Civic and Voter Kit. It has

          6  not been released as yet, and we would like to be

          7  able to publish it and release it in 2008. It is

          8  really a how-to book. It's how to do a voter

          9  registration drive, how to do a civic participation

         10  workshop, and it's about 80 pages and it goes

         11  through every single demographic - people with

         12  disabilities, any special need that we have to

         13  address, we're doing different types of forums.

         14                 We have put that into a booklet that

         15  we'd like to be able to publish and release next

         16  year.

         17                 So, we need help with that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Can I get the

         19  draft?

         20                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Well, we could

         21  definitely share it with you.

         22                 In terms of the calendar, I must

         23  really say thank you to DeNora Getachew, because she

         24  has really worked with us and stayed at the

         25  forefront of making this hearing happen, and making

                                                            52

          1  CIVIL RIGHTS AND GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS COMMITTEES

          2  sure that she has distributed this to the members on

          3  more than one occasion. So, I really do thank you

          4  for that.

          5                 And also for agreeing to trying to

          6  get more City Council members to also participate

          7  with VAC and to have events all across the City. And

          8  we do have event submission forms, we have on our

          9  website also, where anyone can go to our website and

         10  download the VAC event submission form and submit it

         11  to us as well.

         12                 I'm really happy that we're also

         13  joined by Councilman Matthew because we had spoken

         14  also, and what I had discussed also about the New

         15  York Historical Society, and we're talking about

         16  celebration of the changing demographics and voting

         17  and elected officials, we talked about also

         18  celebrating that history that exists here in New

         19  York.

         20                 We do have here for the first time a

         21  Haitian-American elected official, a

         22  Russian-American elected official. We have our first

         23  Dominican-American elected official, and these are

         24  the things that we would also like to celebrate in

         25  October of 2008, as we talk about the changing
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          2  demographics in voting and those who represent us.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Can I request

          4  that these automatically come to our district?

          5                 MS. KALMUS: If I may, Council Member

          6  Healy (sic)? This is part -- I beg your pardon,

          7  Mealy. This is part of the developing strategy that

          8  I mentioned in my remarks, that we hope to partner

          9  with each Council member, utilizing your district

         10  office as the distribution center for information on

         11  how to register and vote, and that we are prepared

         12  to give to you and every Council member all the

         13  printed materials on this topic, which will be made

         14  available early in '08.

         15                 You have my office indeed. Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I just wanted to

         18  reiterate that the letter was sent by the Speaker

         19  and myself to all the members early in November with

         20  this booklet, as well as contact information with

         21  VAC to encourage members to try to do events

         22  together, and we'll send out the same letter again.

         23  And on behalf of DeNora I say thank you, because she

         24  really deserves a lot more credit than she usually

         25  gets. But we're not allowed to do it because then
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          2  one staff member feels like, you know what I mean?

          3  But you can say whatever you want. So, thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 MS. KALMUS: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Council Member

          7  Eugene.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER EUGENE: Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Chair.

         10                 First and foremost, let me

         11  congratulate you and commend you for the wonderful

         12  job that you are doing. This is so important,

         13  especially for us immigrant people, who want to be

         14  part of the system. And as you know, I'm the first

         15  Haitian-American to be elected to the City Council.

         16  This is a good thing for me and for my community.

         17  And before I became a City Council member, I used to

         18  help people become citizens and register to vote. I

         19  think this is wonderful. This is part of the

         20  American Dream.

         21                 But one thing that we observed from

         22  the last election, there are people who became

         23  citizens the first time, and they went to register,

         24  they say they want to go to work, you know, the

         25  momentum was there, but one thing that happen when
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          2  they get to the poll to cast their vote, some of

          3  them couldn't, because there were no Haitian, Creole

          4  speaking person as a poll watcher, or to translate

          5  for them, to assist them. And that came back to me

          6  and when we contacted Board of Election, it seemed

          7  that there were Chinese people were admitted, but no

          8  Haitian, Creole speaking people.

          9                 This is something that I want to

         10  address, and I want to join forces with you and to

         11  make sure for the next election there are people we

         12  speak Creole to, because we are a large number of

         13  Haitian who vote that want to be part of the system.

         14                 And, again, I want to congratulate

         15  you and commend you. I want to be partnership with

         16  you also, to work together with you, because I think

         17  this is a right, this is a privilege, this is a

         18  wonderful thing, because people in my country, back

         19  home, some of them, they're born, they become

         20  adults, they die, they never vote. It is a good

         21  thing for us.

         22                 Thank you very much. And I will

         23  invite you to my district and invite me also to what

         24  you are doing. Thank you.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 DR. KRAUS: I just want to respond to

          3  what you mentioned.

          4                 Under the federal Voting Rights Act

          5  the City is required to provide translation services

          6  in certain specified languages if a percentage, I

          7  think it's five percent, that's the threshold, the

          8  five percent in the district, and at this point the

          9  languages are Spanish, Chinese and Korean in Queens.

         10  And the Board of Elections takes the position that

         11  they have the resources just to provide translation

         12  services that they are required to under federal

         13  law.

         14                 Now, there was a bill in the State

         15  Legislature which passed the house, passed the

         16  Assembly in the last session, that would have

         17  required also a translation services to be made

         18  available in Russian. That was a one House bill, it

         19  never passed the State Senate. So, you know, while

         20  we recognize that this is an issue, and of course,

         21  it's always been an issue. New York has always been

         22  a City of immigrants and new groups come through and

         23  face this challenge. Right now you might say we're

         24  limited by the requirements of federal law. I would

         25  expect perhaps at some point in time as the
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          2  population continues to grow, that there will then

          3  be that requirement as well, or perhaps if you can,

          4  you know, through your colleagues in the

          5  legislature, perhaps encourage them to enact a

          6  statute that at least would apply here in New York

          7  State.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER EUGENE: Thank you very

          9  much. This is an issue I'm going to present to my

         10  colleague from Washington also. My next meeting is

         11  going to be about that. It's about time that we have

         12  a right also to obtain what we deserve.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 DR. KRAUS: Okay, thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         16  much, Dr. Eugene.

         17                 Council Member Nelson?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Oh, okay.

         20                 I certainly want to thank all of you

         21  for your testimony, and it is our hope that we can

         22  do much, much more, and we should do much more for

         23  the services which you render and the cost is very

         24  cheap for what we should be able to put in for one

         25  of the most expensive ventures that we have, and
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          2  that's the right to vote. And that's something that

          3  we should cherish and protect and never ever lose.

          4  And continue to do the good work.

          5                 DR. KRAUS: Thank you.

          6                 MS. COWARD MAYERS: Thank you.

          7                 MS. KALMUS: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: We have the

          9  next panel as Gene Borsh; Barbara Zucker and

         10  Margaret Chen.

         11                 MR. BORSH: Good afternoon, Mr.

         12  Chairman, Mr. Seabrook, Chairman Felder,

         13  distinguished members of your Committees. My name is

         14  Gene Borsh. I'm Director of Civic and Voter

         15  Education Initiative for the Russian Americans in

         16  New York.

         17                 I'm here to present a problem that we

         18  have among the Russian-American New Yorkers. Over

         19  the past several years we have been urging the New

         20  York City Board of Elections to take steps to ensure

         21  that all Russian-American New Yorkers can fully

         22  participate in the electoral process, regardless of

         23  their fluency in English.

         24                 We have been joined in our request by

         25  local officials, New York Citywide and especially
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          2  those who are working in Southern Brooklyn.

          3                 The election law at the federal and

          4  State level reflects the importance of enhancing the

          5  participation of all citizens in the election

          6  process. Unfortunately, our previous efforts have

          7  been met with the same response from the Board of

          8  Election: We follow the Federal Voting Rights Act,

          9  and we have been told time and again.

         10                 According to the most recent survey

         11  conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau at the end of

         12  2006, there were almost 200,000 Russian-American

         13  households in New York. The survey showed that

         14  Russian is number three foreign language in New

         15  York. Of those surveyed, almost 80,000 households

         16  claim to speak English very well, while more than

         17  122,000 experience some degree of difficulty.

         18                 The language barrier is the major

         19  challenge for the elderly members of our community,

         20  slowing their integration into American society.

         21  However, the vast majority of retiree organizations

         22  remain very active in civic and political life. In

         23  fact, Russian-American retirees are twice as likely

         24  to vote as the younger generation.

         25                 The Federal Voting Rights mandates
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          2  that certain counties around the country provide

          3  ballots in Spanish, various Southeast Asian

          4  languages such as Korean or Chinese and/or various

          5  Native American languages.

          6                 This requirement represents the

          7  federal minimum that local boards of elections must

          8  do with respect to meeting the needs of language

          9  minority groups. It does not preclude a more

         10  expansive approach to address concerns in

         11  communities with a large number of other minority

         12  groups.

         13                 We urge the New York City Board of

         14  Elections to immediately move to accommodate voters

         15  who speak additional languages by the following

         16  requests:

         17                 1) Having the official ballot

         18  translated into additional languages, certainly

         19  including Russian.

         20                 2) Translating all official websites

         21  information and documents that are currently

         22  translated into the covered languages into

         23  additional languages spoken by a large number of New

         24  Yorkers, notably Russian. This includes the

         25  following:
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          2                 - General information.

          3                 - Frequently asked questions.

          4                 - Registration forms and

          5  instructions.

          6                 - Where to vote, meaning poll site

          7  locator; and

          8                 - Absentee Ballot information.

          9                 3) Soliciting applications for

         10  interpreters in languages spoken by large numbers of

         11  New Yorkers, in addition to the federal Voting

         12  Rights Act covered languages.

         13                 4) Having phone staff available at

         14  the Board who can communicate in additional

         15  languages spoken by the large number of New Yorkers,

         16  beyond those covered by the federal Voting Rights

         17  Act.

         18                 5) Translating all official notices

         19  that are printed and either published in newspapers

         20  or mailed to voters, the publication of candidates,

         21  election date and poll sites that are currently

         22  translated into covered languages into additional

         23  languages spoken by large numbers of New Yorkers.

         24                 Those should be published and mailed

         25  to voters in communities that have large numbers of
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          2  these additional languages.

          3                 6) Translating official notices

          4  within the polling site into additional languages

          5  spoken by large numbers of New Yorkers, i.e.

          6  Russian.

          7                 7) Ensuring that in anticipation of

          8  the installation of new machines that all New

          9  Yorkers, regardless of whether they are fluent in

         10  English, can benefit from the education requirements

         11  of HAVA.

         12                 On behalf of 46 Russian-American

         13  grassroots organizations united in Civic and Voter

         14  Education Initiative of the Russian-American New

         15  Yorkers, we submit this request to both Committees

         16  and we hope that they will address this important

         17  issue on a priority basis in time for upcoming

         18  Presidential and Congressional election campaigns.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 MS. ZUCKER: Chairmen Seabrook and

         21  Felder and Council members, thank you for the

         22  opportunity to address you.

         23                 My name is Barbara Zucker. I am Vice

         24  President for Public Policy of Women's City Club of

         25  New York. We are a non-profit, non-partisan
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          2  organization. We were founded in 1915, and while we

          3  were involved in a great many different kinds of

          4  advocacy activities, it's important to note that our

          5  founders were a group of suffrages, so voting has

          6  always been very, very important to us.

          7                 We supported the creation of a Voter

          8  Assistance Commission in the Charter in 1988, and we

          9  continue to believe that New York City needs, very

         10  much needs this independent non-partisan agency to

         11  encourage voter registration and voter

         12  participation. We agree that the percentages of

         13  people voting is just pathetic and we must do

         14  something about it.

         15                 Since Executive Director Onida Coward

         16  Mayers was appointed in 2004 as Executive Director,

         17  VAC has really been revitalized after being

         18  relatively inactive. It's instituted new programs

         19  and publications, as we just heard. I don't want to

         20  repeat what the prior people said, but we're really

         21  very impressed with what they did in the way they're

         22  partnering with City agencies and doing as much as

         23  possible on a really, really limited budget.

         24                 They try really hard to identify the

         25  groups of residents who are under-represented, and
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          2  these are activities that they are mandated to do by

          3  the Charter.

          4                 So, we recommend that the VAC be

          5  included in the Fiscal Year 2009 budget. We support

          6  their plans to continue to increase the number of

          7  registrants eligible to vote in the presidential

          8  primary, to educate voters on the electoral college

          9  and publish a voter guide similar to the one that's

         10  done at the municipal elections, but only every four

         11  years, and they want to do it more frequently, and

         12  to expand their work with the different immigrant

         13  communities beyond the three languages that are

         14  required by the federal Voting Rights Act.

         15                 So, we're very pleased that both of

         16  your Committees recognize the importance of public

         17  input in the budget process, and we thank you for

         18  the opportunity to express our views.

         19                 MS. CHEN: Good afternoon. My name is

         20  Margaret Chen. On behalf of the Brennan Center for

         21  Justice at NYU School of Law, I thank the Committee

         22  on Governmental Operations and the Committee on

         23  Civil Rights for holding this hearing and providing

         24  me the opportunity to discuss our work on voter

         25  registration.
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          2                 The Brennan Center for Justice is a

          3  non-partisan think tank and advocacy organization

          4  that focuses on issues of democracy and justice.

          5                 We are deeply involved in the effort

          6  to ensure fair voting, accurate voting, voter

          7  registration systems and to promote policies that

          8  maximize participation in elections.

          9                 My testimony today will focus on

         10  voter registration and people with felony

         11  convictions.

         12                 There is widespread misunderstanding

         13  and misapplication of relevant state law governing

         14  the voting rights of former prisoners and

         15  probationers. New York Election Law automatically

         16  restores the right to vote to convicted individuals

         17  once they have served their maximum sentence or been

         18  discharged from parole.

         19                 Individuals who are sentenced to

         20  probation never lose their right to vote. The law

         21  imposes no additional burdens, conditions or

         22  qualifications on who may vote aside from the usual

         23  age, citizenship and residency requirements.

         24                 Like all other registrants, people

         25  with felony convictions need only complete a voter
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          2  registration form and sign an affidavit. They are

          3  entitled to the same presumption of eligibility as

          4  all other individuals seeking to register.

          5                 In 2003 and 2005, the Brennan Center

          6  conducted surveys of New York's 63 local election

          7  boards to determine how voter registration laws were

          8  being applied in practice.

          9                 In 2003, more than half of the Boards

         10  of Elections, including all five local Board of

         11  Elections in New York City, were getting the law

         12  wrong. In 2005, a third of the Boards of Elections

         13  were still getting the law wrong.

         14                 This means that the Boards of

         15  Elections are government agencies, who are in charge

         16  of ensuring the voter registration of eligible

         17  citizens in the City of New York, were misinforming

         18  people with felony convictions of their voting

         19  rights.

         20                 Misapplication of voter registration

         21  laws has a disparate impact in New York City, as the

         22  majority of people with felony conflictions are

         23  residents of the five boroughs. In 2004, nearly

         24  one-third of all New Yorkers sentenced to probation

         25  lived in New York City, 50 percent of people
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          2  sentenced to prison and 61 percent of people on

          3  parole reside in the five boroughs.

          4                 Because of this persistent

          5  misinformation, many New Yorkers with felony

          6  convictions do not know whether they are eligible to

          7  vote. In 2005, researchers found that about half of

          8  New Yorkers surveyed incorrectly thought they were

          9  ineligible to vote while on probation and about 30

         10  percent believed they lost their right to vote if

         11  they had only been arrested but not convicted for a

         12  crime.

         13                 Nearly 30 percent of people with

         14  felony convictions in New York thought they would

         15  never be eligible to vote again.

         16                 Of concern is the fact that the Voter

         17  Assistance Commission website is a source of such

         18  misleading information. The website states that to

         19  register to vote in the City of New York, you must

         20  not be serving a jail sentence or be on parole for a

         21  felony conviction. This language should be changed

         22  to accurately reflect New York's Voter Eligibility

         23  Law.

         24                 The current language is inaccurate

         25  because the use of the term "jail sentence" is
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          2  over-inclusive. Although anyone incarcerated in

          3  State prison has been convicted of a felony and does

          4  not have the right to vote, the vast majority of

          5  people serving time in City jails have not been

          6  convicted of a felony and remain eligible to vote.

          7                 Most people detained in jails are

          8  being held while awaiting trial or sentencing or

          9  they have been convicted of a misdemeanor and

         10  therefore retain the right to vote even while in

         11  jail.

         12                 Rather than tell eligible voters that

         13  they may not vote if they are serving a jail

         14  sentence, the Voter Assistance Commission should

         15  inform citizens that they are ineligible to vote if

         16  they have been convicted of a felony and are

         17  currently incarcerated or on parole.

         18                 Therefore, the Brennan Center feels

         19  that the Voter Assistance Commission should take

         20  affirmative steps to ensure that eligible people

         21  with felony convictions are registered to vote.

         22                 Members of the public and the local

         23  Boards of Elections are misinformed about the voting

         24  rights of such individuals. Very easily the Voter

         25  Assistance Commission can correct the eligibility
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          2  language on its website and ensure that

          3  organizations that they work with disseminate

          4  accurate information to voters and potential

          5  registrants.

          6                 Additionally, the Voter Assistance

          7  Commission should provide training for City

          8  agencies, community, church and voter registration

          9  groups on such voter eligibility requirements and

         10  produce public service announcements in print,

         11  media, television, and radio outlets to ensure that

         12  the wider public is aware of these sort of -- of the

         13  eligibility requirements for people with felony

         14  convictions.

         15                 The Brennan Center is eager to work

         16  with the Voter Assistance Commission to enhance

         17  voter registration efforts across the City. In

         18  particular, we are more than happy to help create

         19  training and public education materials on the

         20  voting rights of people with felony convictions,

         21  examples of which can be found on our website, to

         22  ensure that all eligible New Yorkers have the

         23  opportunity to vote.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very
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          2  much. There's a couple of questions that I would

          3  like to ask of you.

          4                 One is, the gentleman as it relates

          5  to the Russian community, the Board of Elections has

          6  indicated that once there is five percent amount of

          7  people with the language problems that they are

          8  actually to provide, what is the rationale as to why

          9  it is not provided to the Russian community?

         10                 MR. BORSH: I don't know. You probably

         11  should ask them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: So, have you

         13  all inquired as to why it is not?

         14                 MR. BORSH: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: What is their

         16  response?

         17                 MR. BORSH: We met on several

         18  occasions with the Board of Directors, Mr. Ravitch

         19  (phonetic), and then to set needs of the members who

         20  are running this project, and also local elected

         21  officials. We started to do this meeting several

         22  years ago, and the answer always was we have to

         23  think about and then we'll get back to you. So far

         24  we don't have any response.

         25                 So, what we're doing on behalf of our
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          2  community and constituency, certain district where

          3  we have heavily populated Russian-Americans, we

          4  producing some printed materials, we're doing

          5  Handbook for the Russian-Americans, translating and

          6  doing this in Russian. We printed several handbooks,

          7  telling how to handle certain situations related to

          8  election campaign, and how to increase the voter

          9  registration, active participation of

         10  Russian-American registered voters in election

         11  campaign.

         12                 Unfortunately, at this time, it's not

         13  enough. We started four years ago bringing these

         14  materials, we started with 1,000 copies last year.

         15  This year we printed 60,000 copies, but,

         16  unfortunately, obviously we are not able to do this.

         17                 We offered on many, many occasions

         18  our partnership to member of Board of Elections.

         19  Fortunately, we have support from local elected

         20  officials who understand the problem of those people

         21  who would like to exercise their civic rights, but

         22  unable to do this due to some difficulty and

         23  challenge, we understand there aren't many printing

         24  materials.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: So there is no
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          2  printed material as it relates from the Voter

          3  Assistance Unit with the Russian community?

          4                 MR. BORSH: Yes, that's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Okay, thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 MR. BORSH: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: In reference --

          9                 MR. BORSH: I deeply appreciate the

         10  chance you gave me to testify here before both

         11  Committees.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right. And

         13  again, that's why the importance of putting monies

         14  into the budget so that we can do that and so that

         15  material can be printed in those languages, because

         16  it's certainly over five percent, and it's a real

         17  sense of disenfranchisement, and certainly not

         18  allowing people who struggle and came here for that

         19  privilege that wasn't granted elsewhere, in terms of

         20  the right to vote. So, I think that certainly we

         21  should be looking forward to dealing with that, and

         22  certainly in this budget period, and as the

         23  suggestion from the women's organization, Women's

         24  Club, to talk about that increase in that budget, as

         25  we desperately need to make it real and to do what
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          2  has to be done in terms of voter participation. And

          3  we're going to do everything that we can to see that

          4  that is done, and again, to convince the Mayor to do

          5  equally the amount as well, so that we can really

          6  put our money where our mouth is, if we really

          7  believe that people should have the right to vote

          8  and it's such a cherished right and privilege here,

          9  that we should protect it at any cost. And so I'm

         10  certainly glad that you're here.

         11                 Ms. Chen, there's a question that I

         12  have. Because you raised the issue about those who

         13  actually committed a felony having the right to vote

         14  and all they would have to do -- I'm a little

         15  confused because I thought you had to file for a

         16  relief of civil disability in terms of restoring the

         17  rights. Perhaps you can clarify that. I thought

         18  that's what it was. I'm not too sure.

         19                 MS. CHEN: Our concern is sort of the

         20  confliction of people with felony convictions and

         21  people who have not committed felony crimes.

         22                 The blanket language, many people

         23  misinterpret the language to apply to anyone who has

         24  ever committed a crime. We just believe that the

         25  information should be corrected to ensure that
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          2  people who are eligible, such as people who have

          3  only committed misdemeanors, people who are in jail

          4  for holding for trial or for sentencing, you know,

          5  all of these people are aware that they retain their

          6  right to vote.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right, but you

          8  stated here that the New York Election Law

          9  automatically restores the right to vote to

         10  convicted individuals once they have served their

         11  maximum sentence and been discharged from parole.

         12  So, you're saying that those people who have

         13  committed a misdemeanor -- because a felony

         14  conviction, that restoration has to come when they

         15  file a certificate of disability, relief of

         16  disability. That's my understanding.

         17                 MS. CHEN: I'm sorry, I'm not familiar

         18  with the specifics for all of the sort of different

         19  felony convictions. However, I'm not sure what the

         20  process is, but there is a way for the individuals

         21  to possibly regain the right to vote.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right. They do

         23  have that opportunity, but not automatically.  That

         24  they're out, and they committed a felony, and they

         25  need to send the voter registration form and say I
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          2  want to vote, I'm not sure. A misdemeanor, or

          3  someone at Rikers Island who is waiting and pending

          4  trial, they have the right in terms of voting, but

          5  we need to look into that. I, in all my

          6  understanding, is that you'd have to apply once

          7  you've committed a felony, that that's not an

          8  automatic that you fill out a form and sign an

          9  affidavit. There's more than an affidavit, because

         10  you've got to fill out the relief of civil

         11  disability in terms of restoring those particular

         12  rights that you've actually lost. So we need to look

         13  at that.

         14                 Okay, and I'll check and see what

         15  you're saying on the website and counsel will also

         16  check on that and see what happened.

         17                 Councilman Nelson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 Welcome, panel. Do you feel that the

         21  Voters Assistance Committee has done enough --

         22  Commission has done enough for you? Would you have

         23  any requests to make of them?

         24                 MR. BORSH: Voter Assistance

         25  Commission, we have partnered with VAC for probably
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          2  several years, and I have to tell that it's a most

          3  fruitless partnership that we have here in New York.

          4  This, of course, limited budget that the Voter

          5  Assistance Commission has, the not expecting to

          6  receive a lot of help, in terms of monetary

          7  assistance, but we have full moral support and

          8  they're doing everything possible to help the

          9  Russian-American community to be more active, play

         10  more active role, civic and political mainstream.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So they

         12  haven't been as cooperative as they could,

         13  feasibility-wise, based on the amount of money that

         14  they have?

         15                 MR. BORSH: Yes. That's correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: They must get

         17  more money, of course, because there have been

         18  problems in that corner of the world.

         19                 MR. BORSH: I don't think it's even

         20  money. I think it's just willingness and readiness

         21  of certain offices to help incorporate this

         22  Russian-American community, because we are able so

         23  far to handle some of monetary problem by getting

         24  assistance from local elected officials and grants.

         25                 We're also raising, doing a private
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          2  fund-raising among the Russian-American community

          3  and the thing that we will be able to bring to the

          4  table if the Board of Elections will be willing to

          5  participate as a partner in this community.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, Board of

          7  Elections I will get to also, but I was a little

          8  confused, you said they have been as cooperative as

          9  possible, based on the limited amount of money, but

         10  then I sort of heard that --

         11                 MR. BORSH: No, I'm talking about the

         12  Voter Assistance Commission.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes.

         14                 MR. BORSH: It's a different part

         15  here.

         16                 The Board of Election so far,

         17  unfortunately, ignoring all our efforts to play more

         18  active part and partner with the community.

         19                 And especially, this is very special

         20  community because there are many people came from

         21  former Soviet Union as refugee of this country. They

         22  held a history of oppression, history of losing

         23  their rights back in the so-called "native country."

         24  Here in the US, we came because we were seeking

         25  freedom, opportunity to be lawful and rightful
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          2  citizens of this country, and for some unknown

          3  reason, just bureaucratic reason, we don't have the

          4  full cooperation of bodies that we would like to

          5  work with.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes, through

          7  the years I've heard of improprieties that have gone

          8  on in certain EDs in the area that we both are

          9  familiar with, questionable people would go into the

         10  voting booth with the people.

         11                 MR. BORSH: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Now, there

         13  should be people, of course, from an organization,

         14  maybe the Board of Elections, that are impartial

         15  just to give instructions and how to properly vote

         16  and how to read the names perhaps. Although the name

         17  should be in your area, of course written in a

         18  language that they could understand, sure.

         19                 MR. BORSH: That's what we're asking

         20  for. Because the election process very complicated

         21  here in the United States, and especially there are

         22  many elderly people who have a problem with their

         23  English. They are unable to understand to the full

         24  capacity and to exercise their civic rights.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, this is
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          2  an arena that I think we need a lot of help. That's

          3  why I'm glad both Chairs are listening to this as

          4  well, and from the power of our Committees hopefully

          5  in time for the next election things will be handled

          6  more properly and certainly appropriately, and I

          7  dare say legally.

          8                 MR. BORSH: Thank you very much,

          9  Councilman.

         10                 I hope that members of both

         11  Committees listen to us and will do some steps to

         12  help us to handle the situation.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you. And

         17  I would hope that perhaps the both of us could

         18  generate a letter to the Board of Elections and

         19  signed by various committees of our concern that

         20  here the Russian Community has reached a threshold

         21  and the lack of participation and response by the

         22  Board of Elections is really uncalled for, and I

         23  would hope that we could put something together to

         24  do that, Mr. Chair.

         25                 MR. BORSH: Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And thank you

          3  all for coming.

          4                 Oh, just one question.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I just want to

          6  know whether any of you know whether other

          7  localities have a separate, you know, similar type

          8  of two entities, the Board of Elections and Voter
          9  Assistance Commission? Does anyone know? Does anyone

         10  know?

         11                 Yes?

         12                 MS. ZUCKER: I'm sorry, I don't know

         13  the answer to that question, but to me the Board of

         14  Elections by law is bipartisan. Every time you do

         15  something you need a republican here and a democrat

         16  there, even if there are five parties all together,

         17  and what I like so much about VAC is that it's

         18  non-partisan.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Very interesting.

         20                 Is there anyone remaining from the

         21  Voter Assistance Commission? I just want to mention

         22  for the record that we normally have budget hearings

         23  for different agencies, commissions, including the

         24  Board of Elections, in the past we have not had a

         25  budget hearing for the Voter Assistance Commission.
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          2  If you so wish, you can request that and we would be

          3  very happy to have one so as to highlight some of

          4  the items that the esteemed Chair of the Civil

          5  Service Committee mentioned -- Rights, I'm sorry,

          6  Civil Rights Committee mentioned with regards to the

          7  issue of budgeting. That's something that would be

          8  highlighted at such a hearing and you can request

          9  that officially.

         10                 I also want to just mention for the

         11  record that we're putting in testimony from Mike

         12  Adino, the Director of Advocacy for the Brooklyn

         13  Center for Independence of the Disabled, as well as

         14  Dan Jacoby. We are putting their testimony into the
         15  record, as well.

         16                 Council Member Seabrook.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I certainly

         18  want to thank all of you for coming, and certainly

         19  for the work that you do, and we certainly

         20  appreciate it. And, again, I will continue to go on

         21  the record that I think it's deplorable, of the

         22  amount of money that we spend, to talk about voter

         23  assistance.

         24                 I mean, I would like to even mention

         25  the amount of money that we're spending because it's
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          2  an embarrassing situation to talk about the greatest

          3  City in the world, the largest population of diverse

          4  groups of people and this little mince of money that

          5  we are spending is embarrassing to me and I'm

          6  certain to all of the members here that we should be

          7  ashamed to even talk about trying to protect and

          8  defend the greatest right that we have in America,

          9  and we're not putting our money where our mouth is.

         10  I'm ashamed. This is the first time, again, because

         11  they have not come before us to talk about their

         12  budget and I promise you that I will say what has to

         13  be said, and I'm certain these members as well,

         14  because I am in shock. That's an embarrassing

         15  situation.

         16                 And thank you all for the good work

         17  that you do. And on that, I say that this meeting is

         18  adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 2:55 p.m.)
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